Fallon Medicare Plus Medicare Supplement 2024

Member Handbook



Fallon Medicare Plus Supplement

Notice to buyer:

This policy may not cover all your medical expenses.

Notice for new members:

When you first get this policy, you have 30 days to review it. You can cancel the policy within 30 days if you are not happy for any reason. If you do, we will give you a full refund of the amount you have paid.

Renewability:

Your policy may only be cancelled for the reasons stated in the **Leaving Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company** section. There are no other reasons that FHLAC can cancel or refuse to renew your policy. Changes to benefits and premiums may only be made with the approval of the Massachusetts Division of Insurance.

Important!

If you, or someone you're helping, has questions about Fallon Health, you have the right to get help and information in your language at no cost. To talk to an interpreter, call 1-800-868-5200.

Spanish:

Si usted, o alguien a quien usted está ayudando, tiene preguntas acerca de Fallon Health, tiene derecho a obtener ayuda e información en su idioma sin costo alguno. Para hablar con un intérprete, llame al 1-800-868-5200.

Portuguese:

Se você, ou alguém a quem você está ajudando, tem perguntas sobre o Fallon Health, você tem o direito de obter ajuda e informação em seu idioma e sem custos. Para falar com um intérprete, ligue para 1-800-868-5200.

Chinese:

如果您,或是您正在協助的對象,有關於[插入項目的名稱 Fallon Health 方面的問題,您有權利免費以您的母語得到幫助和訊息。洽詢一位翻譯員,請撥電話 [在此插入數字 1-800-868-5200.

Haitian Creole:

Si oumenm oswa yon moun w ap ede gen kesyon konsènan Fallon Health, se dwa w pou resevwa asistans ak enfòmasyon nan lang ou pale a, san ou pa gen pou peye pou sa. Pou pale avèk yon entèprèt, rele nan 1-800-868-5200.

Vietnamese:

Nếu quý vị, hay người mà quý vị đang giúp đỡ, có câu hỏi về Fallon Health, quý vị sẽ có quyền được giúp và có thêm thông tin bằng ngôn ngữ của mình miễn phí. Để nói chuyện với một thông dịch viên, xin gọi 1-800-868-5200.

Russian:

Если у вас или лица, которому вы помогаете, имеются вопросы по поводу Fallon Health, то вы имеете право на бесплатное получение помощи и информации на вашем языке. Для разговора с переводчиком позвоните по телефону 1-800-868-5200.

Arabic:

إن كان لديك أو لدى شخص تساعده أسئلة بخصوص Fallon Health، فلديك الحق في الحصول على المساعدة والمعلومات الضرورية بلغتك من دون اية تكلفة للتحدث مع مترجم اتصل ب 800-868-5200.

Khmer/Cambodian:

ប្រសិនររ ើអ្នក ឬន ណាម្មនក់ដែលអ្នកកំពុងដែជួយ ម្មួនសំណួ អ្្ំំពី Fallon Health ររ, អ្នកម្មុនសិរំធិរំរំួលជំនួយនិងព័ឌំ ម្មុន រៅកនុងភាសា ស់អ្នក រោយម្ិនអ្យ់រ្ំ ក់ ។ ឧររំ ម្រីនិយាយជាមុួយអ្នក កែប្រ សូម្ 1-800-868-5200 ។

French:

Si vous, ou quelqu'un que vous êtes en train d'aider, a des questions à propos de Fallon Health, vous avez le droit d'obtenir de l'aide et l'information dans votre langue à aucun coût. Pour parler à un interprète, appelez 1-800-868-5200.

Italian:

Se tu o qualcuno che stai aiutando avete domande su Fallon Health, hai il diritto di ottenere aiuto e informazioni nella tua lingua gratuitamente. Per parlare con un interprete, puoi chiamare 1-800-868-5200.

Korean:

만약 귀하 또는 귀하가 돕고 있는 어떤 사람이 Fallon Health에 관해서 질문이 있다면 귀하는 그러한 도움과 정보를 귀하의 언어로 비용 부담없이 얻을 수 있는 권리가 있습니다. 그렇게 통역사와 얘기하기 위해서는 1-800-868-5200로 전화하십시오.

Greek:

Εάν εσείς ή κάποιος που βοηθάτε έχετε ερωτήσεις γύρω απο το Fallon Health, έχετε το δικαίωμα να λάβετε βοήθεια και πληροφορίες στη γλώσσα σας χωρίς χρέωση. Για να μιλήσετε σε έναν διερμηνέα, καλέστε 1-800-868-5200.

Polish:

Jeśli Ty lub osoba, której pomagasz "macie pytania odnośnie Fallon Health, masz prawo do uzyskania bezpłatnej informacji i pomocy we własnym języku .Aby porozmawiać z tłumaczem, zadzwoń pod numer 1-800-868-5200.

Hindi:

यदि आपके ,या आप द्वारा सहायता ककए जा रहे ककसी व्यक्तत के Fallon Health [के बारे में प्रश्न हैं ,तो आपके पास अपनी भाषा में मुफ्त में सहायता और सूचना प्राप्त करने का अधिकार है। ककसी िुभाषषए से बात करने के लिए ,1-800-868-5200 पर कॉि करें।

Gujarati:

જો તમે અથવા તમે કોઇને મદદ કરી રહ્ાાં તેમ ાંથી કોઇને Fallon Health વિશે પ્રશ્નો હોર્ તો તમને મદદ અને મ હહતી મેળિિ નો અવિક ૨ છે.તે ખર્ય વિન તમ રી ભ ષ મ ાં પ્ર પ્ત કરી શક ર્ છે.દ ભ વષર્ો િ ત કરિ મ ટે,આ 1-800-868-5200 પર કોલ કરો.

Laotian:

້າທ່ານ, ຫ ຼືຄົນທ ່ທ່ານກຳລັງຊ່ວຍເຫ ຼືອ, ມ ຄຳຖາມກ່ຽວກັບ Fallon Health, ທ່ານມ ສິດທ ່ຈະໄດ້ຮັບການຊ່ວຍເຫ ຼືອແລະຂໍ້ມູນຂ່າວສານທ ່ເປັນພາສາຂອງທ່ານບໍ່ມ ຄ່າໃຊ້ຈ່າຍ. ການໂອ້ລົມກັບນາຍພາສາ, ໃຫ້ໂທຫາ 1-800-868-5200.

Notice of inclusion resources

At Fallon Health, we believe everyone deserves access to health care without discrimination. We work every day to help people of any age, income level, race, color, ethnicity, national origin, disability, religion, sexual orientation, sex, gender identity, and health status achieve their health goals.

To make sure you have access to all the resources and information necessary to understand and access your health plan benefits, we:

- Provide free aids and services—such as qualified sign language interpreters and written information in other formats, including large print, braille, accessible electronic formats and other formats.
- Provide free language services—such as qualified interpreters and information written in other languages—to people whose primary language is not English.
- Have dedicated resources, individuals, and teams that specialize in reviewing our policies to ensure inclusion of the unique needs of our transgender and gender diverse members.

If you need access to or wish to discuss any of this information or resources, **please call us** at the phone number on the back of your member ID card. Or you can email us at cs@fallonhealth.org.

If you believe Fallon or a provider has **discriminated against you or didn't provide these resources**, please tell us. You can write, call, or email us at:

Compliance Director Phone: 1-508-368-9988 (TRS 711)
Fallon Health Email: compliance@fallonhealth.org

10 Chestnut St., Worcester, MA 01608

You can also file a civil rights complaint with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office for Civil Rights online at https://ocrportal.hhs.gov/ocr/portal/lobby.jsf or by mail or phone at:

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 200 Independence Avenue SW., Room 509F, HHH Building Washington, D.C., 20201

Phone: 1-800-368-1019 (TDD: 1-800-537-7697)

Welcome!

This handbook is issued by the Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company (FHLAC). FHLAC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Fallon Health. This handbook describes your benefits. It also includes any limitations and exclusions that may affect your right to benefits.

This handbook is part of your contract with us. Your contract also includes:

- the enclosed Outline of Coverage
- any amendments to the handbook
- your signed application

Since this is a very important document, we ask you to keep it handy. If at any time you have questions, we ask you to call our Customer Service Department at 1-800-868-5200. If you prefer to use the Internet, you can get information at our website, www.fallonhealth.org/medsupp. We look forward to serving you.

Table of contents

Table of contents

Glossary	2
About this handbook	
Questions? Just ask	
Understanding your health care coverage	
Your FHLAC identification card	6
Notify us of changes	6
How to access care	6
Know your benefits	
Medical management	
Utilization review	
Quality management	
Assessing new technologies	
Member rights and responsibilities	9
Confidentiality of member information	
Inquiries, appeals and grievances	12
When you make an inquiry	12
Filing an appeal: internal appeal review	
Filing an appeal: external appeal review	14
Filing a grievance	
The claims process	
How your coverage works	
Additional contract provisions	
Leaving Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company	
Ineligibility	22
Cancellation by FHLAC	
Disenrollment by the subscriber	
Eligibility for Medicaid	
Benefits	
Other Plan Features	
General exclusions and limitations	
Index	36

Glossary

Accidental injury: Injury to a member which is the direct result of an accident, separate from disease or bodily infirmity or any other cause, which occurs while insurance coverage is in force. Coverage does not include injuries for which benefits are given or available under any workers' compensation, employer's liability or similar law, motor vehicle no-fault plan, or other motor vehicle insurance related plan, unless not allowed by law.

Benefit period: Medicare uses a benefit period to decide coverage for inpatient stays in hospitals and skilled nursing facilities. A benefit period begins on the first day you go to an inpatient hospital or skilled nursing facility covered by Medicare. It ends when you have not been an inpatient in a hospital or skilled nursing facility for 60 days in a row. If you go to the hospital (or a skilled nursing facility) after one benefit period has ended, a new benefit period begins. There is no limit to the number of benefit periods you can have.

The type of care that Medicare covers depends on whether you are considered an inpatient for a hospital or skilled nursing facility stay. You must be considered an inpatient, not just under observation. You are an inpatient in a skilled nursing facility only if you need daily skilled-nursing or skilled-rehabilitation care, or both.

Calendar year: The 12-month period beginning on January 1 and ending on December 31.

Contract: This handbook, the *Outline of Coverage* enclosed with this handbook, any amendments to the handbook, and the subscriber's signed application.

Covered services: Health care services or supplies that are covered by this policy, as described in this handbook.

Custodial care: A level of care, which (1) is chiefly designed to assist a person with the activities of daily life; and (2) cannot be expected to improve a medical condition. It does not require day-to-day attention by medically trained people. This may include room and board; routine nursing care; rehabilitation of a chronic condition; training or help in personal hygiene; or supervision in daily activities. Custodial care is not covered under this policy.

Effective date: The date, as shown on our records, on which your coverage begins under this contract or under any revisions to it.

Emergency medical condition: A medical condition, whether physical or mental, showing symptoms (including pain) such that a prudent layperson, with an average knowledge of health and medicine, could expect a lack of fast medical attention to result in (1) serious risk to the health of the member or another person or, in the case of a pregnant woman, the health of the woman or her unborn child; (2) serious harm to bodily functions; or (3) serious dysfunction of any bodily organ or part.

Emergency services: Covered inpatient and outpatient services that are (1) given by a qualified provider and (2) needed to treat or stabilize an emergency medical condition.

FHLAC: The Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company, also referred to as "us," "we" and "our".

Hospital: A facility defined as a hospital by Medicare, and eligible to receive Medicare hospital payments.

This policy provides benefits for some services that are not covered by Medicare, and for which Medicare does not make any payment. We define a hospital as a facility that is (1) licensed by the state's Department of Public Health or other applicable state regulatory agency; (2) accredited by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Health Care Organizations; and (3) provides 24-hour medical care.

Inpatient: A registered patient in a bed in a licensed hospital or other facility.

Insured: Any eligible person who has entered into this contract with us for whom FHLAC takes on responsibility for the payment of covered health services, and for whom the necessary payments have been paid. "You," "member" or "yours" means the insured.

Medically necessary service: A service or supply that is in line with accepted principles of medical practice, based on whether or not (1) the service is the most appropriate available supply or level of service for the member in question taking into account benefits and harms to the person; (2) the service is known to work, based on scientific proof, professional standards and expert opinion, in improving health results; or (3) for services and interventions not in wide use, is based on scientific proof.

Medicare: The Health Insurance for the Aged Act, Title XVIII of the Social Security Amendments of 1965, as then constituted or later amended.

Medicare Eligible Expenses: Expenses covered by Medicare Parts A and B.

Office visit: Any professional contact (not telephone discussions) between you and a licensed physician or other provider who gives health services. Laboratory and X-ray and imaging services are not an office visit.

Outpatient: A patient who is not a registered bed patient in a hospital or other medical facility.

Physician: An individual defined as a physician by Medicare, and eligible to receive Medicare physician payments.

This policy provides benefits for some services that are not covered by Medicare, and for which Medicare does not make any payment. We define a physician as a licensed doctor of medicine acting under his or her license, who gives health care services to you.

Policy: The health care benefit rules described in this handbook or your *Outline of Coverage*, under which the payment of certain medical expenses will be made for you.

Premium charge: The amount charged by us for coverage under this contract.

Provider: Persons, agencies or facilities, acting under their license to give you health care services under the terms of this contract. This includes doctors of medicine, osteopathy and podiatry; registered nurse anesthetists; nurse practitioners; physician assistants; chiropractors; dentists; accredited acupuncturists, and optometrists.

Room and board: Your room, meals and general nursing services while you are an inpatient. This includes hospital services given in an intensive care or similar unit.

Sickness: Illness or disease of a member for which expenses occur after the effective date of insurance and while the insurance is in force. This does not include sicknesses or diseases for which benefits are given under any workers' compensation, work-related disease, employer's liability or similar law.

Skilled nursing facility: A facility licensed by the state's Department of Public Health or other applicable state regulatory agency that gives skilled services or skilled rehabilitation services on a daily basis in an inpatient setting.

Telehealth: Office visits, psychotherapy, consultations, and certain other medical or health services that are provided by an eligible provider who isn't at your location using an interactive 2-way telecommunications system (like real-time audio and video).

Terminal illness: An illness as a result of which a member has a life expectancy of less than six months.

About this handbook

This handbook is effective January 1, 2024. You can start to use the services listed in this book on January 1, 2024, or on your effective date, whichever comes later. There are no waiting periods or pre-existing condition limitations.

This is a Medicare Supplement policy. It gives you coverage secondary to Medicare for coinsurance and copayment amounts not paid by Medicare, as described in the *Outline of Coverage*. It also covers some services not covered by Medicare. Some plan options cover Medicare deductibles, while some do not (see your *Outline of Coverage*).

This handbook details the benefits and services that this policy covers, explains our policies and procedures, and contains other information such as:

- Important points to remember about FHLAC
- Our customer service capabilities
- Coverage available
- Claims procedures
- Additional contract provisions
- Your benefits

This handbook is part of your contract with us. Your contract also includes:

- The Outline of Coverage enclosed with this handbook
- Any amendments to this handbook
- Your signed application

If we need to update or change this book, we will send you an amendment.

It is important to keep this book, the *Outline of Coverage* and any amendments or other materials handy for easy reference.

Questions? Just ask.

If you have questions about this policy, call:

FHLAC Customer Service 1-800-868-5200 (TRS 711)

For answers to general questions or inquiries Also see Inquires and grievances.

With questions about your FHLAC identification card

- If you do not get a card
- If you lose or damage your card

To notify us of changes

• To report any changes in your name, address, phone number, or any other pertinent information

To order materials

Additional copies of this book, Outline of Coverage and any applicable amendments

You can find information and answers to many questions at our website.

Our website

www.fallonhealth.org/medsupp

For information on Fallon's products and services, visit us at www.fallonhealth.org/medsupp. Our website is where you can learn more about your plan and its benefits and features. It also is a convenient and secure way to communicate with us. You can use the site to:

- Get online access to your claims, benefits and more-at any time of day or night Log into MyFallon, our secure member portal, to see your copayments, track deductibles and out-of-pocket-maximums, change your PCP, check authorizations and more. Visit fallonhealth.org/myfallon to register and log in.
- Use our online health encyclopedia and reference guide for answers to your health questions
- Contact Customer Service

Can't find what you need online? Use our site search feature or contact the webmaster with your suggestions.

Understanding your health care coverage

Your FHLAC identification card

When you became a member, we sent you an identification card. Please have the card with you at all times. You should show both your Medicare card and your FHLAC card when you seek medical care.

You should get your FHLAC card within 30 days of the date that we confirm your enrollment request. Call our Customer Service Department if:

- You do not get a card
- The information on your card is wrong
- You lose or damage your card

Notify us of changes

Call the Customer Service Department if there are any changes in important information. This would include your:

- Name
- Address
- Phone number

How to access care

With this policy, you do not need to:

- Choose a personal physician
- Get referrals
- Use a special network of providers

You may see any properly licensed provider for any covered service. For Medicare-covered services, the provider must also be eligible for payment by Medicare.

Know your benefits

This policy gives you coverage secondary to Medicare Parts A and B. It gives you coverage for coinsurance and copayment amounts not paid by Medicare, as described in the *Outline of Coverage*. It also covers some services that Medicare does not. Some plan options cover Medicare deductibles, while some do not (see your *Outline of Coverage*). It is important that you read this book and your *Outline of Coverage* to know and understand your benefits. Some benefits have limits.

Benefit management procedures

For services that Medicare does not cover, this policy has procedures to help you manage that benefit. The procedures in this section only apply to services that Medicare Part A or Part B do not cover. For services where this policy covers secondary to Medicare, we follow Medicare's coverage decisions.

These procedures help you get the most appropriate care that is available, while keeping the costs you pay for health care affordable. We may arrange for others to help us manage these procedures. Your contract with us requires that you work with these persons or entities as they carry out these duties. Inpatient admissions require benefit management procedures.

To reach our Care Services Department, call 1-800-868-5200 (TRS 711).

Prior authorization for inpatient stays

If you know you will need to stay overnight for upcoming medical care, you must let us know in advance. At least one week before, you must call our Care Services Department. We will also make sure the setting and planned treatment is cost-effective for you.

We will then do one of three things:

- 1. Approve your planned admission as medically necessary and appropriate (this is not a guarantee of exact payment or eligibility for benefits),
- 2. Suggest other options to you and your doctor, or
- 3. Let you know that the service is not covered.

We will make our decision within two working days of getting all of the medical information. We will tell your doctor our decision within 24 hours of when we make the decision. If we approve the request, we will send both you and your doctor a notice in writing within two working days of the decision. If we do not approve the request, we will send you and your doctor a letter explaining our decision, and describing your right to file a grievance, within one business day of the decision. (See the **Inquiries and grievances** section to learn more.)

Unplanned admissions not covered by Medicare

There are some cases where unplanned, or emergency, admissions are not covered by Medicare. These can include times when you are already an inpatient and use up your Medicare benefits. If this happens, you must call us. Call Care Services within 48 hours of being admitted (or using up your coverage).

During your stay, we will coordinate your care with the facility's staff, and with you and your family. This is to help make sure that you are discharged at the right time and that any follow-up care is in place. We will tell the facility if you are approved for additional days or services within one working day. We will send written notice to you and the facility within one working day after that. We will tell the facility within 24 hours of any denial and send written notice to you and the facility within one working day after that.

Inpatient facilities include any medical, surgical, mental health, substance use disorder, skilled nursing, or maternity facilities.

Medical management

The items in this section only apply to services that Medicare Part A or Part B do not cover. For services where this policy covers secondary to Medicare, we follow Medicare's coverage decisions.

Utilization review

FHLAC's case management program reviews the care that you get to make sure that care is coordinated, and that the right levels of service are available to members.

Licensed registered nurse case managers, physician reviewers, and specialists staff this program. They are in contact with health care providers regularly.

They use national, proof-based criteria that are reviewed every year by a committee of health plan and community-based doctors to make sure that selected services your doctor asks for are medically appropriate for you. These criteria are approved as being consistent with generally accepted standards of medical practice, including prudent layperson standards for emergency room care.

FHLAC also develops in-house criteria, making use of local specialist advice and current medical literature, as well as guidelines from Medicare and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

Quality management

FHLAC's Quality Management Program tracks your satisfaction with the quality of clinical care and service our members get. A team of doctors, licensed registered nurses, and specialists create and regularly update clinical guidelines to promote selected medical practices and to improve the quality of care. These guidelines are designed to enhance rather than replace your doctor's clinical judgment.

Assessing new technologies

FHLAC maintains a formal way to review new medical technologies and devices through our Technology Assessment Committee. The committee includes physician administrators, practicing primary care or specialty doctors from the relevant field, and staff who do extensive research regarding the suggested technology. We make use of outside research organizations, which review of all the available literature for an individual procedure.

The Technology Assessment Committee also looks at all policies from state and federal regulatory agencies that apply to any mandate for coverage of specific procedures. The committee also performs its own literature searches as needed to make sure that we have all of the available information connected to the topic being looked at. The committee makes recommendations about coverage for those new procedures that can offer improved results to our members without greatly increasing the risks of care.

Member rights and responsibilities

Rights

As a Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company (FHLAC) member, you have the right to ...

- Be informed about FHLAC and covered services.
- Receive information about FHLAC, its services, and members' rights and responsibilities.
- Be informed about how medical care decisions are made by FHLAC, including payment structure.
- Your choice of providers and hospitals.
- Know the names and qualifications of doctors and health care professionals involved in your medical care.
- Receive information about an illness, the course of care, and chances for recovery in terms that you can
 understand.
- Actively participate in decisions regarding your own health and care options, including the right to refuse care.
- Candidly discuss appropriate or medically necessary care options for your condition, regardless of cost or benefit coverage, presented by your doctor in a manner proper to your condition and understanding.
- Be treated with dignity and respect, and to have your privacy observed.
- Keep your personal health information private as protected under federal and state laws—including spoken, written and electronic information across the organization. Unauthorized people do not see or change your records. You have the right to review and get a copy of certain personal health information (there may be a fee for copies).
- Make complaints and appeals without discrimination about FHLAC or the care given and expect problems to be fairly looked at and appropriately answered.
- Exercise these rights without regard to your race; physical or mental ability; ethnicity; gender; sexual
 orientation; creed; age; religion; national origin; cultural or educational background; economic or health
 status; English proficiency; reading skills; or source of payment for your care. Expect these rights to be
 upheld by FHLAC.
- Make recommendations regarding FHLAC's rights and responsibilities policies.

Responsibilities

As a Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company member, you have the responsibility to ...

- Provide, to the extent possible, information that FHLAC, your doctor, or other care providers need in order to care for you.
- Do your part to improve your own health condition by following instructions and care plans that you have agreed on with your doctor(s).
- Understand your health problems and participate in developing new and existing care goals that have been agreed to by you and your doctor(s), as much as you can.

Member rights and responsibilities

If you have any questions about your rights or responsibilities as a Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company member, please contact:

Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company, Inc. 10 Chestnut St. Worcester, MA 01608 1-800-868-5200 (TRS 711)

For care given to you by a doctor, please contact:

Commonwealth of Massachusetts Board of Registration in Medicine 200 Harvard Mill Square, Suite 330 Wakefield, MA 01881 1-781-876-8200

Confidentiality of member information

In support of our commitment to protect our members' privacy, FHLAC has in place a comprehensive, corporate-wide privacy and security program. The ultimate goal of FHLAC's privacy and security program is to safeguard our members' protected health information (PHI) from inappropriate access, use, and disclosure while permitting appropriate access in order to provide the highest quality health care coverage for our members.

Our numerous privacy and security policies and procedures address the protection of PHI in all forms—oral, written, and electronic—across the organization. We define the appropriate uses and disclosures of information, such as members have the right to authorize the disclosure of PHI for certain non-routine uses and disclosures, and employers right to access PHI for enrollment and disenrollment purposes and under other limited circumstances. Our policies and procedures also address the rights members have with respect to their PHI.

You can be confident that all of us at Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company are committed to safeguarding the privacy and security of our members' PHI. For details on how we use and share your information, please read FHLAC's Notice of Privacy Practices. The Notice of Privacy Practices also provides information regarding the rights members have with respect to their PHI and how members can invoke those rights. For example, members have the right to access most PHI FHLAC has about them, grant others access to their PHI, and request restrictions on who can access their PHI.

This notice is provided to all new subscribers upon enrollment and is available on the Fallon website, fallonhealth.org/medsupp (keyword: "privacy policies"), or, for a printed copy, call our Customer Service Department at 1-800-868-5200 (TRS 711).

Details of confidentiality and your plan

Your use of the Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company identification card means that you agree that Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company, its providers, and affiliated provider organizations may, to the extent permissible under applicable law, (1) obtain medical and medical service-related information from past, present or future providers; and (2) use and disclose this information to necessary persons and entities for the following purposes:

Managing care through quality improvement and utilization management programs; administering benefits, including claims payment; verification of enrollment and eligibility; coordination of benefits; subrogation; audits; reinsurance and member satisfaction processes; other legitimate business purposes such as investigation of potential fraud; to meet accreditation standards; participation in bona fide research; and when required by law.

In other situations, medical information gathered by us will be kept confidential and will not be shared without your consent.

Inquiries, appeals and grievances

Whenever you have a question or need help using providers and services, FHLAC encourages you to contact our Customer Service Department. If you have a question or concern about an adverse determination, or if you would like to file an appeal or grievance, contact the Member Appeals & Grievances Department.

An adverse determination means a determination by FHLAC or our designated medical management agents, based upon a review of information that denies, reduces, modifies, or terminates coverage for health care services. This includes, but is not limited to, cases where the treatment does not meet the requirements for coverage based on medical necessity, appropriateness of health care setting and level of care, or effectiveness. A rescission of coverage may also be appealed.

When you make an inquiry

If you have a question or need help with an issue that is not about an adverse determination, contact Customer Service. You can reach our Customer Service Representative in the following ways:

Call: 1-800-868-5200 (TRS 711)

Monday, Tuesday, Thursday, and Friday from 8 a.m. to 6 p.m. and Wednesday from 10 a.m. to

6 p.m.

E-mail: cs@fallonhealth.org

Writing: Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company, Inc.

Customer Service Department

10 Chestnut St.

Worcester, MA 01608

In most cases, our Customer Service Representatives will be able to answer your question or handle your request the first time you call. In some cases, however, we may need to do more research before we complete your request. In these cases, we will make every effort to provide you with a response within three business days. If we have not been able to provide a satisfactory response to your inquiry within this time period, we will send you a letter explaining your right to continue with the inquiry process or to have your request handled as a grievance. If you tell us that you want to have your issue handled as a grievance, we will proceed to the grievance procedure. (See **Filing a grievance**).

Filing an appeal: internal appeal review

If you disagree with an adverse determination about coverage related to your care, you may file an appeal. An appeal is a request to change a previous decision made by FHLAC.

Please note that the procedures presented below only apply to benefits paid or denied by FHLAC. With regard to benefits paid or denied by Medicare, you must appeal to Medicare. See your Medicare Summary Notice for more information about how to file an appeal with Medicare.

You may file the appeal yourself, or with the completion of the appropriate authorization form, you may have someone else (e.g., a family member, friend, physician/practitioner) do this for you. You must file your appeal within 180 calendar days from when you received the written denial.

If you file an appeal, be sure to give us all of the following information:

- The member's name
- Member identification number
- The facts of the request
- The outcome that you are seeking
- The name of any representative with whom you have spoken

You can file an appeal in any of the following ways:

Write: Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company, Inc.

Member Appeals and Grievances Department

10 Chestnut St. Worcester, MA 01608

Call: 1-800-333-2535, ext. 69950 (TRS 711)

Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.

E-mail: grievance@fallonhealth.org

Fax: 1-508-755-7393

In person: Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company, Inc.

Member Appeals and Grievances Department

10 Chestnut St.

Worcester, MA 01608

If you send us a written or electronic appeal, we will acknowledge your request in writing within 15 calendar days from the date we receive the request, unless you and the plan both agree in writing to waive or extend this time period. We will put an oral appeal made by you or your authorized representative in writing and send the written statement to you or your authorized representative within 48 hours of the time that we talked to you, unless you and the plan both agree in writing to waive or extend this time period.

We will complete our review and send you a written response within 30 calendar days from the date that we receive your request. If the appeal followed from an unresolved inquiry, the 30-day period will start three business days from the date FHLAC received the inquiry or on the day you advise us that you are not satisfied with the results of your inquiry, whichever comes first. These time limits may be waived or extended if you and the plan both agree in writing to the change. This agreement must note the length of the extension, which can be up to 30 days from the date of the agreement.

You have the right to provide any additional information, including evidence and allegations of fact or law, in support or your appeal. This may be done in person or in writing. Any new information received by FHLAC during the course of the appeal may be sent to you for review. At any point before or during the appeal process, you may examine your case file, which may include medical records or any other documentation and records considered during the appeals process.

In some cases, FHLAC will need medical records to complete our review of your appeal. If we do, we may ask you to sign a form to authorize your provider to release the records to us. If you do not send this form within 30 calendar days from receipt of your appeal, FHLAC will complete the review based on the information that we do have, without the medical records.

Your appeal will be reviewed by individuals who are knowledgeable about the matters at issue in the appeal. If your appeal is about an adverse determination, the reviewer will be an individual who did not participate in any of the plan's prior decisions on the issue. The reviewer will consult with a health care professional who is actively practicing in the same or similar specialty that is the subject of your appeal.

If the subject matter of the internal review involves the termination of ongoing services, the disputed coverage or treatment shall remain in effect at our expense through completion of the internal appeal process regardless of the final appeal decision. The appeal must be filed on a timely basis, based on the course of treatment. This includes only that medical care that, at the time it was initiated, was authorized by FHLAC. It does not include medical care that was terminated due to a specific exclusion in your benefits.

Our response will describe the specific information we considered as well as an explanation for the decision. If the appeal is about an adverse determination, the written response will include the clinical justification for the decision, consistent with generally accepted principles of professional medical practice; the information on which the decision was based; pertinent information on your condition; alternative treatment options as appropriate; clinical guidelines or criteria used to make the decision; and your right to request external review and the process for doing so.

Opportunity for reconsideration

In circumstances where relevant medical information (1) was received too late to review within the thirty (30) calendar daytime limit; or (2) was not received but is expected to become available within a reasonable time period following the written resolution, you may choose to request a reconsideration. We may allow the opportunity for reconsideration of a final adverse determination. If you request a reconsideration you must agree in writing to a new time period for review. The time period will be no greater than thirty (30) calendar days from the agreement to reconsider the appeal. Please note, if you are not satisfied with our member satisfaction process, you have the right at any time to contact the Commonwealth of Massachusetts at the Division of Insurance Bureau of Managed Care at:

Division of Insurance, Bureau of Managed Care Office of Consumer Affairs and Business Regulations 1000 Washington Street, 8th Floor Boston, MA 02118

Phone: 1-617-521-7372

Expedited review for terminally ill members

If you are terminally ill, you can request an expedited review of your appeal. A determination will be provided to you within five business days from receipt of your appeal request and will include the specific medical and scientific reasons for denying coverage or treatment, along with information on any covered alternative treatments, services or supplies.

If your request for coverage or treatment is denied, you may request and attend a conference at FHLAC, for further review. The conference will be scheduled within 10 days of receiving your request unless your treating physician determines, after discussion with the FHLAC Medical Director or designee, that an immediate conference is necessary. In that case, the conference will be held within five business days. You may participate at the conference in person or via telephone; however, your attendance is not required. If your appeal involves the termination of ongoing coverage or treatment, this coverage or treatment will continue at the plan's expense until we complete our review, regardless of the final decision.

Filing an appeal: external appeal review

An external appeal is a request for an independent review of the final decision made by FHLAC through its internal appeal process. If your appeal involved an adverse determination, and you are not satisfied with our final decision, you have the right to file the case with an external review agency. You must request this in writing within four months from receiving the written notice of the final adverse determination.

If the subject matter of the external review involves the termination of ongoing services, you may apply to the external review panel to seek the continuation of coverage or treatment. You must file this request by the end of the second business day after receiving the final adverse determination. If the external review agency finds that termination of services would cause you substantial harm, they may order continuation of coverage at our expense, regardless of the final external review determination.

In any case where we fail to meet our internal timelines, you have the right to file an external review, even if you have not yet exhausted our internal appeals process.

Expedited external review

If you are not satisfied with our member satisfaction process, you have the right at any time to contact the Commonwealth of Massachusetts at the Division of Insurance Bureau of Managed Care at:

Division of Insurance, Bureau of Managed Care Office of Consumer Affairs and Business Regulations 1000 Washington Street, 8th Floor Boston, MA 02118

Phone: 1-617-521-7372

Filing a grievance

A grievance is the type of complaint you make if you have any other type of problem with FHLAC or a provider. You would file a grievance if you have a problem with things such as the quality of your care, waiting times for appointments or in the waiting room, the way your doctors or others behave, being able to reach someone by phone or get the information you need, or the cleanliness or condition of the doctor's office.

If you have a grievance, our Member Appeals and Grievances coordinators are available to assist you in accordance with your rights and in confidence.

You can file a grievance in any of the following ways:

Write: Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company, Inc.

Member Appeals and Grievances Department

10 Chestnut St. Worcester, MA 01608

Call: 1-800-868-5200 (TRS 711)

Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.

E-mail: grievance@fallonhealth.org

Fax: 1-508-755-7393

Walk-in: Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company, Inc.

Member Appeals and Grievances Department

10 Chestnut St. Worcester, MA 01608

You may file the grievance yourself, or with the completion of the appropriate authorization form, you may have someone else (e.g., a family member, friend, physician/practitioner) do this for you. You must file your grievance within 180 calendar days.

If you file a grievance, be sure to provide all of the following information:

- Member name
- Member identification number
- Facts of the request
- Outcome that you are seeking
- Name of any representative with whom you have spoken

A Member Appeals and Grievances Representative will acknowledge your oral grievance within 24 to 48 hours of receipt. Written grievances will be acknowledged within 15 calendar days of receipt. We will contact you within 30 calendar days of receiving your grievance to discuss a possible resolution of your concern.

Failure to meet time limits

If we do not complete a review in the time limits specified above, the decision will automatically be in favor of the member. Time limits include any extensions made by mutual written agreement between you or your authorized representative and the plan.

The claims process

Claims, reimbursements, and refunds

Your doctor should first submit a claim to Medicare, even if they believe that the service will not be covered by Medicare. Once a Medicare Summary Notice/Explanation of Benefits (EOB) has been received showing Medicare coverage and payment (or denial) of the claim, either you or your doctor may submit a claim to FHLAC. You or your doctor should submit both a copy of the Medicare notice and an itemized claim form (such as a "1500" or "UB04"). You should send in a claim as soon as you can after you get your Medicare Summary Notice/EOB.

If you receive a claim from a provider and you don't think you should have; please make sure the provider has the correct insurance information. You may also contact Customer Service for assistance.

For services covered by Medicare, we will also accept a notice from a Medicare carrier on a dually assigned claim. Notices should be sent to the claims address listed below. For all services covered by Medicare, we will make a payment decision based on the information included in the Medicare notice. We will not cover claims we receive more than one year after you had the service.

For services not covered by Medicare, we will not cover claims unless the services have been submitted to Medicare, and a Medicare Summary Notice/EOB has been received confirming denial. We will not cover eligible services if they were denied by Medicare due to being filed outside of Medicare time limits, or if they were submitted to us more than one year after you had the service. Most providers will submit a claim on your behalf but if you file a claim directly with us and you did not get a claim form from your provider, call Customer Service at 1-800-868-5200 for a FHLAC Request for Payment of Medical Services form. We will send the form to you within 15 days. All claims should include an itemized list of the services, the dates of services, the charge for each service and receipt of payment.

Send claims to:

Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company, Inc. P.O. Box 211308 Eagan, MN 55121-2908

For services covered by Medicare Part A and B, FHLAC will only pay the Medicare-approved coinsurance or copayment amount, as described in the *Outline of Coverage*.

Some plan options cover Medicare deductibles, while some do not (see your *Outline of Coverage*). In some cases, providers who do not accept Medicare "assignment" may be able to bill you for amounts that are more than the Medicare-approved deductible or coinsurance amount. In these cases, this amount is your responsibility. It will not be covered by either Medicare or FHLAC.

We will respond to any claim submission in one of three ways: (1) paying the claim; (2) denying the claim and telling you and the provider in writing the reason for the denial; or (3) sending you or the provider notification in writing requesting additional information we need to process the claim. In any case where we fail to take any of the above actions within 45 days of when we get the claim, interest will accrue on the claim as required by Massachusetts state law. Claims that are being investigated due to suspected fraud do not earn interest.

Recovering money owed

If we pay for services that should not have been covered or for services you got when your coverage was not in effect, we have the right to get that money back from you. We may do so by charging the amount you owe us against any reimbursement payments we may owe you. This will satisfy our contract to pay for services you get. We also pursue the provider who may in turn bill you.

Claims questions/refunds

If you have a question about a claim, you should contact Customer Service. If you feel you should get a correction or refund due to differences in the effective date of your coverage or your contract type, send a letter to:

Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company, Inc. Customer Service Department 10 Chestnut St. Worcester, MA 01608

Corrections or refunds will be made according to our underwriting guidelines. We will not approve a correction or refund if it is for something that took place more than one year before we get your letter. We also will not approve a correction for an amount less than \$5.

Coordination of benefits

Coordination of benefits (COB) is when more than one health insurance company covers a service. This includes companies that provide benefits for hospital, medical, dental or other health care expenses. We will coordinate payment of covered services with other plans under which you are covered. Other plans include personal injury protection insurance, automobile insurance, homeowner's insurance, school insurance and other plans that pay medical expenses. To the extent permitted by law, benefits available under an auto, homeowners or commercial policy shall be primary to this Plan. Medical Payments Coverage under a motor vehicle insurance policy shall always be secondary to and in excess of any Health Benefit Plan or Personal Injury Protection.

Under COB, one plan pays full benefits as the primary carrier. The other (the secondary carrier) pays the rest of covered charges. The primary and secondary carriers are selected by the standard rules that are used by all insurance companies.

This policy provides coverage secondary to Medicare Parts A and B. For any service covered by Medicare or any other government program, Medicare or the government program is the primary carrier and FHLAC is the secondary carrier. Unless required by law, FHLAC will not cover any service or supply for which payment is available through Medicare or any other government program.

We have the right to exchange benefit information with any other group plan, insurer, organization, or person to determine benefits payable using COB. We have the right to get reimbursement from you or another party for services given to you. You must provide information and help with this, and sign the necessary documents to help us get payment. You must not do anything to stop this repayment. If payments have been made under any other plan that should have been made under this policy, we have the right to reimburse that plan as long as it satisfies the intent of COB. If we pay benefits in good faith to a plan, we will not have to pay for those benefits again. We also have the right to get back any overpayment made because of coverage under another plan.

We will not duplicate payment for any service. We will not make payment for more than the full benefit available under this contract. If we provide services when another carrier is primary, we have the right to get back any overpayment from the primary carrier or other appropriate party. If we do not get the documentation we need from you, we may deny your claim. In order to get all the benefits available, you must file claims under each plan or ensure your provider will on your behalf.

Subrogation

Subrogation (a process of substituting one creditor for another) applies if you have a legal right to payment from an individual or organization because another party was responsible for your illness or injury. Immediately upon payment by us of any covered services, we shall be subrogated and succeed to all rights of recovery for the reasonable value of the services and benefits we provided to you or on your behalf related to an injury, illness, or condition. Our subrogation and reimbursement rights apply to benefits provided to all injured parties

covered by the Plan, and our rights are fully enforceable against any party who possesses funds owed to us, including an injured party's guardian, representative or estate.

In addition to our subrogation rights, we have the right to be reimbursed from you or any entity or person that caused your injury or illness and any insurance carrier, including your insurance carrier to the extent permitted by law. If you receive any payment from any party or insurance coverage as a result of an injury, illness or condition, we have the right to recover from you or your representative 100% of the reasonable value of the services and benefits we provided or expenses incurred by us. Our right to repayment comes first, even if you are not paid for all your claims against the other party, or if the payment you receive is described as partial compensation or payment for other than health care expenses. We are entitled to be fully reimbursed for 100% of the value of services provided or paid and we shall not be responsible for the payment of fees or costs, including attorney's fees, incurred in connection with your recovery. We shall be entitled to enforce our subrogation and reimbursement rights, with or without your consent, to recover the reasonable value of injury or accident-related services or benefits we have provided on your behalf. Any recovery by us from your personal injury protection coverage under a Massachusetts automobile policy shall be in accordance with the law.

You agree to cooperate with us in enforcement of our subrogation and reimbursement rights. Your cooperation includes providing us with all necessary documentation and information and the assignment to us of reimbursements received and the right to reimbursements up to the full value of the services and benefits that we have provided. If we do not receive the necessary documentation from you, we may deny your claim.

Workers' compensation

This policy does not cover any services or supplies that are covered by workers' compensation insurance or a similar program. If you are eligible for workers' compensation or any other employer's liability coverage, we may ask for information from you before processing claims. If we do not get the information that we need from you, we may deny your claim.

How your coverage works

Eligibility

You may become a member as long as:

- You qualify for Medicare Part A and Part B under conditions that make it your primary health insurance coverage and have paid any necessary premium to maintain your Medicare Part A and Part B coverage.
- If you are under age 65, you do not have Medicare coverage solely due to end-stage renal disease.
- You will not be a member of another Medicare Supplement plan while this policy is in effect.
- You reside in Massachusetts.

There is no dependent coverage under this policy. Your spouse may be able to enroll under their own policy if they are eligible.

Premium charges

The amount of money that is paid to us for your benefits under this policy is called your premium charge. The premium charge must be paid on or before the first day of the billing period to which it applies. Your coverage may be cancelled if you fail to pay your premium.

Premium changes

We may change the premium charge for your coverage. If we do, the change will apply to all contracts of this type, not just your contract. Each time we change the premium charge, we will mail you a notice at least 60 days before the change takes place.

Changes to benefits and premiums may only be made with the approval of the Massachusetts Division of Insurance.

Failure to pay premiums

If we or our agent do not get the premium payment by the time it is due, your coverage will be stopped, and your contract cancelled as described in **Leaving Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company.**

Additional contract provisions

Changes in your coverage

We may change part of your contract. If we do, the change will apply to all contracts of this type, not just your contract. Changes to benefits and premiums may only be made with the approval of the Massachusetts Division of Insurance. We will send you notice of any material changes to your coverage within 60 days of the change. The contract will be changed whether or not you get the notice. The notice will tell you the effective date of the change.

When we send you a notice, we will mail it to the most current address we have on file. This includes your bill for premium charges and any notices telling you about changes in the premium charge or changes in the contract. If your name and mailing address change, let us know so that our files can be updated. Be sure to give us your old name and address as well as the new information.

Responsibility for the acts of providers

We are not liable for any injuries or damages as a result of deeds or failures by a provider, facility, or person giving services to you. We will not come between the regular relationship between providers and their patients. Responsibility for medical decisions about care options is between the provider and you. However, we can deny payment for services that we decide are not covered under this policy. Such a denial does not release the provider of their professional responsibility to give you proper medical care.

If you are an inpatient, or if you are an outpatient, you will be required to follow all of that facility's rules, including rules on admission, discharge, and the availability of services.

Providers can recommend care options, but this does not guarantee that the recommended care is a covered benefit. It does not require FHLAC to pay for the service. Only the services or supplies that are listed as covered in this handbook are covered benefits.

Conditions beyond our control

Under conditions that are beyond our control, we may have to delay your services, or we may not be able to provide services at all. We will not be responsible for failing to provide, or for a delay in providing, services in the cases described below. We will, however, make a good faith effort to provide or arrange for services in these situations, limited by available facilities and personnel:

- In the case of major natural disasters, epidemics, or pandemics
- In the case of a war, riot, civil insurrection, or acts of terrorism

Leaving Fallon Health & Life Assurance Company

Ineligibility

Your coverage with this policy will end if:

- You are no longer eligible for Medicare Part A and Part B, or Medicare is no longer your primary health insurance coverage.
- You are no longer a resident of the continental United States and its territories.

Cancellation by FHLAC

You do not have to worry that we will cancel your coverage because you are using services or because you will need more services in the future. We will cancel coverage only for the following reasons:

- You made a false statement or worked with someone else to give false information to FHLAC. An example is a wrong or incomplete statement on your application that told us that you could be covered when you could not. In such a case, your coverage will be canceled as of a date we decide. We will refund the premium charge you have paid if appropriate. Any payments made for claims under this contract will be taken away from the refund. If we have paid more for claims under this contract than you have paid in premium charges, we have the right to collect the outstanding amount from you. In any case of false representation FHLAC may not allow you to enroll in the future.
- Your premium charge is not paid within the grace period. (See How your coverage works to learn
 more about grace periods and nonpayment of premium.) FHLAC will send you a notice telling you the
 effective date of the cancellation. That notice will be sent to the address that we have on file for you.

We can only cancel your policy for the reasons listed here. FHLAC may not cancel or refuse to renew your policy for any other reason. Changes to benefits and premiums may only be made with the approval of the Massachusetts Division of Insurance.

Disenrollment by the subscriber

You may cancel your contract at any time. If you cancel your contract, we will not provide benefits for any services or supplies that you may get after the date your contract is cancelled. We will give back to you any premium already paid for coverage for months past your date of cancellation. In the event of your death, we will give back any premium already paid for coverage for months past the date of your death.

There is one exception to the rule that FHLAC will not provide benefits for services you got after your cancellation date. If you are admitted to a hospital when your policy is cancelled, we will cover that admission until you are released, or until all available benefits under this policy have been used up.

Eligibility for Medicaid

If you are eligible for Medicaid, you may ask to suspend your benefits and premium under this policy for up to 24 months. To do this, you must tell us within 90 days of the date you become eligible for Medicaid.

If you lose your right to Medicaid before the 24 months is up, you may reinstate this policy. To do this, tell us within 90 days of the date you lose Medicaid, and pay any premium due for this policy from the date you lost Medicaid coverage. We will reinstate you as of the date you lost your Medicaid entitlement. Your coverage will be as close as possible to the same coverage you had before. Your premium will be based on a classification as close as possible to what would have applied if you had not left to join Medicaid.

Benefits

The benefits listed are available to members as long as they meet the rules below. Covered services under this policy fall into two areas: services secondary to Medicare and non-Medicare services required by Massachusetts state law.

For Medicare-covered services:

- The services are received from a provider or facility that is eligible to receive payments from Medicare.
- The services are covered by Medicare Part A or Part B.
- The charges for the services do not exceed the Medicare allowed amount.

For other services:

- The services are received from a properly licensed provider or facility.
- The services are described as a covered service in this handbook and are not limited or excluded elsewhere in this handbook, in the *Outline of Coverage*, or in an amendment to this handbook.
- The services are medically necessary, or meet any other criteria described in this handbook.

This policy does not cover losses as a result of sickness any differently than it covers losses as a result of accidental injury.

Medicare-covered services

This policy supplies secondary coverage for services covered by Medicare Part A or B. This includes, but is not limited to, the services listed in this section. It covers coinsurance and copayment amounts that are not paid by Medicare, as described in the *Outline of Coverage*. Some plan options cover Medicare deductibles, while some do not (see your *Outline of Coverage*). Unless it is stated somewhere else in the handbook or in your *Outline of Coverage*, the services listed below are covered by this policy only if Medicare Part A or Part B covers them. (See your *Outline of Coverage* for more detailed information.)

When changes are made to Medicare deductible and coinsurance amounts, benefits available under this policy also change to the new amounts.

Note that Medicare coverage of certain services may be limited or may be only for services which meet certain standards. FHLAC will not provide coverage for any service not covered by Medicare unless stated somewhere else in this handbook or in your *Outline of Coverage*.

Ambulance

This policy covers Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered ambulance transportation.

Emergency care

This policy covers Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered care in a hospital emergency room or other emergency care location.

When you have an emergency medical condition you should go to the nearest emergency room for care or call your local emergency number (e.g., police or fire department, or 911) to ask for ambulance transportation.

An emergency medical condition, whether physical or mental, shows symptoms (including pain) such that a prudent layperson, with an average knowledge of health and medicine, could expect a lack of fast medical attention to result in:

- 1. serious risk to the health of the member or another person (or unborn child),
- 2. serious harm to bodily functions, or
- 3. serious dysfunction of any bodily organ or part.

Examples of emergencies are stroke, unconsciousness, heart attack symptoms, or severe bleeding.

Note that Medicare for the most part does not cover services that you get outside the United States.

Home health care services

This policy covers the Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered home health care.

Hospice care

This policy covers the Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered hospice care.

Hospital inpatient services

This policy covers the Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered inpatient hospital services, including copayments for lifetime reserve days.

It also has limited coverage for inpatient hospital days that Medicare does not cover because you have reached your day limit for a particular benefit period, and have used up your lifetime reserve days. Coverage is given for the first 90 days per benefit period, plus 60 lifetime reserve days, then up to 365 lifetime inpatient hospital days (some plan options cover amounts applied to your Medicare Part A deductible, while some do not; see your *Outline of Coverage*). This benefit includes charges for the first three pints of blood.

Mental health and substance use services

This policy covers the Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered services related to mental health and substance use. This includes coinsurance for inpatient lifetime reserve days.

It also has limited coverage for inpatient hospital days that Medicare does not cover because you have reached your Medicare inpatient mental health lifetime maximum. This maximum is 190 days. Coverage is given for up to 60 days per calendar year (some plan options cover amounts applied to your Medicare Part A deductible, while some do not; see your *Outline of Coverage*). It does not include services in the same calendar year covered as a state-mandated benefit.

Office visits and outpatient services

This policy covers the Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered office visits and outpatient services. This includes, but is not limited to:

- the services of physicians and other health care professionals,
- diagnostic and laboratory tests and procedures, including X-rays,
- surgery,
- therapeutic services,
- · kidney dialysis,
- cardiac rehabilitation services.
- physical, occupational, and speech therapy,
- clinical trials,
- · certain telehealth services.

Oral surgery and dental services

This policy covers the Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered oral surgery and dental services.

Organ transplants

This policy covers the Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered organ transplant services.

Note that, for certain types of transplants, Medicare only covers facilities approved by Medicare for that type of transplant. This policy will not cover a transplant at a facility that is not approved by Medicare to do that type of transplant.

Prosthetic devices and durable medical equipment

This policy covers the Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered prosthetic devices and durable medical equipment.

Skilled nursing facility

Medicare Supplement Core: This policy **does not cover** the Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered inpatient skilled nursing facility services.

Medicare Supplement 1 and 1A: This policy covers the Medicare coinsurance amounts for Medicare-covered inpatient skilled nursing facility services.

See your *Outline of Coverage* for further information.

Benefits

Medicare Supplement 1 and 1A benefits

For the Medicare Supplement 1 and 1A plan options only, this policy covers:

- The Medicare daily skilled nursing coinsurance for Christian Science Sanatorium nursing services for up to 30 days per benefit period.
- Non-Medicare covered services rendered by a dentist during a Medicare-eligible admission for those services.

Services mandated by Massachusetts law

Services below are covered by this policy under Massachusetts state law. These are covered even if Medicare does not cover them or if they are given to you by providers who do not accept Medicare. We will not cover claims unless the services have been submitted to Medicare, and a Medicare Summary Notice/EOB has been received confirming Medicare coverage or denial. We will not cover services if they were denied by Medicare due to being filed outside of Medicare time limits, or if they were submitted to us more than one year after you had the service. If Medicare does cover these services, FHLAC's coverage will be secondary to Medicare. All FHLAC coverage will be less any payments made by Medicare and may not include amounts applied to a Medicare deductible.

If Massachusetts law changes to cover more services, benefits under this policy change to match the new requirements. Premiums may be changed when this happens. The member must agree to the change in benefits and premiums.

Autism services

Benefits shall be provided for the diagnosis and treatment of autism spectrum disorder. Benefits are only available to members who are residents of Massachusetts. Diagnosis includes medically necessary assessments, evaluations including neuropsychological evaluations, genetic testing, or other tests to diagnose whether an individual has one of the autism disorders. Treatment includes care prescribed, provided, or ordered for an individual diagnosed with one of the autism spectrum disorders by a licensed physician or a licensed psychologist who determines the care to be medically necessary.

Covered services

- Habilitative or rehabilitative care, professional counseling and guidance services and treatment programs, including, but not limited to, applied behavior analysis supervised by a board-certified behavior analyst. Services require prior authorization.
- 2. Therapeutic care, services provided by licensed or certified speech therapists, occupational therapists, physical therapists, or social workers. Therapeutic care requires prior authorization.
- 3. Pharmacy care, medications prescribed by a licensed physician and health-related services deemed medically necessary to determine the need or effectiveness of the medications, to the same extent that pharmacy care is provided by the contract for other medical conditions.
- 4. Psychiatric care, direct or consultative services provided by a psychiatrist licensed in the state in which the psychiatrist practices.
- 5. Psychological care, direct or consultative services provided by a psychologist licensed in the state in which the psychologist practices.

Coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of autism spectrum disorders is not subject to any annual or lifetime dollar or unit of service limitation which is less than any annual or lifetime dollar or unit of service limitation imposed on coverage for the diagnosis and treatment of physical conditions nor subject to a limit on the number of visits an individual may make to an autism services provider.

The following terms shall have the following meaning:

Applied behavior analysis: The design, implementation, and evaluation of environmental modifications, using behavioral stimuli and consequences, to produce socially significant improvement in human behavior, including the use of direct observation, measurement, and functional analysis of the relationship between environment and behavior.

Autism services provider: A person, entity, or group that provides treatment of autism spectrum disorders.

Autism spectrum disorders: Any of the pervasive developmental disorders as defined by the most recent edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, including autistic disorder, Asperger's disorder, and pervasive developmental disorders not otherwise specified.

Board certified behavior analyst: A behavior analyst credentialed by the behavior analyst certification board as a board-certified behavior analyst.

Not covered:

- 1. Equine therapy
- 2. Aqua therapy

Bone marrow transplants for breast cancer patients

This policy covers bone marrow transplants for persons diagnosed with breast cancer that has developed into metastatic disease. Coverage follows the standards established by the Massachusetts Department of Public Health.

Contraceptive services and hormone replacement therapy

This policy covers services for contraceptives or hormone replacement therapy, according to Massachusetts state law:

- Hormone replacement services in the doctor's office for perimenopausal or postmenopausal women.
- Outpatient contraceptive services, including:
 - a. consultations,
 - b. examinations,
 - c. procedures, and
 - d. medical services related to the use of all contraceptive methods, including those that are given by a licensed provider during an office visit.

This benefit does not include any items covered under Medicare Part D.

Hearing aids

In accordance with Massachusetts state law, this policy covers hearing aids for individuals age 21 or younger for the cost of 1 hearing aid per hearing impaired ear up to \$2,000 for each hearing aid device only, every 36 months.

Related services and supplies for hearing aids (not subject to the \$2,000 limit)

Not covered:

Hearing aids for individuals over age 21

HIV associated lipodystrophy treatment

In accordance with Massachusetts state law, this policy covers medical or drug treatments to correct or repair disturbances of body composition caused by HIV associated lipodystrophy syndrome including, but not limited to, reconstructive surgery, such as assisted lipectomy, other restorative procedures and dermal injections of fillers for reversal of facial lipoathrophy.

Hospice care

In accordance with Massachusetts state law, this policy covers hospice care. This care is covered even when these services are not covered by Medicare or are given by a provider who does not accept Medicare.

You are covered for hospice care services listed below. Hospice care is care for the terminally ill to live with as little disruption as possible. This type of care focuses on services such as home care and pain control. It does not focus on cure-oriented services given in a facility.

Hospice care services must be ordered by a licensed doctor and given by a licensed hospice provider.

Hospice services include, but are not limited to:

- doctor's services,
- nursing care by or under the supervision of a registered professional nurse,
- dietary, occupational, physical, speech and respiratory therapy for reasons of symptom control or to allow the person to keep activities of daily living,
- medical supplies and appliances,
- drugs that cannot be self-administered,
- · medical social services,
- counseling services by professional or volunteer staff under professional supervision,
- · volunteer services, and
- respite care.

Covered:

- 1. Nursing care by or under the supervision of a registered professional nurse
- 2. Medical social services by a social worker
- 3. Outpatient physicians' services by a doctor of medicine or doctor of osteopathy
- 4. Counseling services, such as dietary or bereavement, for the terminally ill individual and the family members or other persons caring for the individual at home
- 5. Short-term inpatient care for the control of pain and management of acute and severe clinical problems that cannot be managed at home
- 6. Medical appliances and supplies
- 7. Physical therapy, occupational therapy and speech-language pathology services for purposes of symptom control or to enable the individual to maintain activities of daily living and basic functional skills
- 8. Prescription medication related to the terminal illness of the person

Not covered:

- 1. Long-term rehabilitative care
- 2. Personal comfort items such as television, radio, or telephone
- 3. Drugs that are investigational or that have not been approved for general sale and distribution by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration
- 4. Vitamins, whether or not a prescription is required

Mammograms and pap smears

In accordance with Massachusetts state law, this policy covers:

- a baseline mammogram for women age 35 to 40,
- a yearly mammogram for women age 40 and older,
- an annual Pap smear for women age 18 and older.

Mental health and substance use services

In accordance with Massachusetts state law, this policy covers mental health services. This coverage is given even if these services are not covered by Medicare or are received from a provider who does not accept Medicare. We will not cover claims unless the services have been submitted to Medicare, and a Medicare Summary Notice/EOB has been received confirming Medicare coverage or denial. We will not cover services if

Benefits

they were denied by Medicare due to being filed outside of Medicare time limits, or if they were submitted to us more than one year after you had the service.

You are covered for inpatient, intermediate and outpatient services for the diagnosis and care of mental conditions, as shown below. A mental condition is defined as a condition that is described in the most recent edition of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* published by the American Psychiatric Association and that is decided as such by a licensed provider and FHLAC. Care may be provided by a:

- · psychiatrist,
- psychologist,
- psychotherapist,
- licensed nurse,
- mental health clinical specialist,
- licensed independent clinical social worker,
- mental health counselor,
- pediatric specialist,
- certified alcohol and drug abuse counselor,
- · marriage and family therapist, or
- other provider as authorized by FHLAC.

Inpatient mental health services are subject to your overall lifetime maximum on inpatient mental health services. (See your *Outline of Coverage* for more detailed information.)

For mental health emergencies, follow the same process as for any other medical emergency. (See **Emergency care**.)

Inpatient services

You are covered for mental health services in an inpatient (intermediate) setting. Coverage is given for inpatient care when medically necessary in a licensed general hospital, psychiatric hospital or substance use facility (or its equivalent in another program). Inpatient services must be arranged by a licensed doctor. Levels vary from least to most restrictive and include: respite or crisis stabilization; day or evening care or partial hospitalization; short-term residential care; and hospital-based programs.

Covered inpatient services:

- 1. Inpatient hospital care, including room and board. This includes the services and supplies that would be given to you while you are an inpatient. These also include but are not limited to; person; family and group therapy; pharmacological therapy and diagnostic laboratory services.
- 2. Professional services provided by doctors or other health care professionals for the care of mental conditions while you are an inpatient.

Outpatient services

You are covered for medically necessary services given in person. Outpatient services may be given in a licensed hospital, a mental health, or substance use clinic licensed by the Department of Public Health, a public community mental health center, or a professional office.

Psychiatric Collaborative Care Model

Coverage provided for mental health or substance use disorder services that are delivered through the Psychiatric Collaborative Care Model. Psychiatric collaborative care model means an evidence-based, integrated behavioral health service delivery method in which a primary care team consisting of a primary care provider and a care manager provides structured care management to a patient, and that works in

collaboration with a psychiatric consultant that provides regular consultations to the primary care team to review the clinical status and care of patients and to make recommendations.

Covered outpatient services:

- 1. Outpatient office visits, including group or family therapy.
- 2. Psychopharmological services, such as visits with a doctor to review, track, and adjust the levels of prescription medication to treat a mental condition.
- 3. Neuropsychological evaluation services when medically necessary.
- 4. Annual mental health wellness exam with a licensed mental health professional or primary care provider, once in each 12-month period. Mental health wellness examination is a screening or assessment that seeks to identify any behavioral or mental health needs and appropriate resources for treatment. The examination may include: observation, a behavioral health screening, education and consultation on healthy life style changes, referrals to ongoing treatment, mental health services and other necessary supports, and discussion of potential options for medication; and age-appropriate screenings or observations to understand a covered person's mental health history, personal history and mental or cognitive state and, when appropriate, relevant adult input through screenings, interviews and questions.

Not covered:

- 1. Mediation (dispute resolution) or intervention services.
- 2. Work evaluation, counseling, rehabilitation, and/or training.
- 3. Faith-based counseling (e.g., Christian counseling).
- 4. Residential halfway house services. This exclusion does not apply to services received in a facility that provides mental health services in a 24-hour setting, with clinical staff and appropriately trained professional and paraprofessional staff to ensure safety for the individual, while providing active treatment and reassessment.
- 5. Acupuncture, biofeedback and biofeedback devices for home use, or any other care for a mental health or substance use condition.
- 6. Services or programs that are not medically necessary for the care of a mental health or substance use condition. Some examples of services or programs that are not covered include (but are not limited to) atrisk youth expeditions, outward bound-type programs, and wilderness programs.
- 7. Services or programs that are provided in a learning, work or recreation location.
- 8. Services or programs that provide mostly custodial care.

Pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders associated with streptococcal infections (PANDAS) and pediatric acute-onset neuropsychiatric syndrome (PANS)

In accordance with Massachusetts state law, Fallon will cover medically necessary treatments for pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorders associated with streptococcal infections (PANDAS) and pediatric acute-onset neuropsychiatric syndrome (PANS) including, but not limited to, the use of intravenous immunoglobulin therapy.

Special formulas

You are covered for the special medical formulas and food products listed below, when medically necessary and ordered by a licensed doctor. Except for these items, FHLAC does not cover any nutritional formulas, supplements or food products. Nutritional supplements or formulas for adults or children are not covered unless they are listed below as a covered item.

Benefits

Covered services:

- 1. Enteral formulas, upon a doctor's written order, for use at home in the care of malabsorption caused by Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, gastro-esophageal reflux, gastrointestinal motility, chronic intestinal pseudo-obstruction and inherited diseases of amino acids and organic acids.
- 2. Food products that have been changed to be low in protein for persons with inherited diseases of amino acids and organic acids. Coverage is given for up to \$5,000 per member in each calendar year.

Speech, hearing and language services

This policy covers medically necessary services for the diagnosis and care of speech, hearing and language disorders, according to Massachusetts state law. The services must be given by a licensed provider who is a speech-language pathologist or audiologist, in a hospital, clinic or office setting.

Treatment of cleft lip and cleft palate

In accordance with Massachusetts state law, this policy covers the treatment of cleft lip and cleft palate for children under the age of 18. The coverage shall include benefits for medical, dental, oral, and facial surgery, surgical management and follow-up care by oral and plastic surgeons, orthodontic treatment and management, preventative and restorative dentistry to ensure good health and adequate dental structures for orthodontic treatment or prosthetic management therapy, speech therapy, audiology, and nutrition services. Payment for dental or orthodontic treatment not related to the management of the congenital conditions of cleft lip and cleft palate will not be covered.

Not covered:

1. Care of the teeth and supporting structures, including reconstructive, major restorative or cosmetic dental services, such as dental implants (also known as osseointegrated or titanium implants), dentures, crowns, and orthodontics. Care of the teeth and supporting structures is not covered (unless related to the management of the congenital conditions of cleft lip and cleft palate). Similarly, medical or surgical procedures in preparation for a dental procedure are also not covered (for example, a bone graft to prepare for a dental implant).

Treatment of Lyme disease

In accordance with Massachusetts state law, this policy covers long-term antibiotic therapy for a patient with Lyme disease when determined to be medically necessary and ordered by a licensed physician after making a thorough evaluation of the patient's symptoms, diagnostic test results or response to treatment. An experimental drug shall be covered as a long-term antibiotic therapy if it is approved for an indication by the United States Food and Drug Administration.

Other Plan Features

SilverSneakers®

SilverSneakers is a complete wellness program that includes access to fitness locations nationwide, exercise equipment, group exercise classes, a support network, and online resources. To find fitness locations, call 1-888-423-4632 (TTY: 711) or visit www.SilverSneakers.com.

Care Connect

Members get free access to registered nurses and other health care professionals who serve as health coaches, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, 365 days a year. You can reach a Care Connect Health Coach by calling 1-800-609-6175 (TDD/TYY: 1-800-848-0160).

Vision Care

One routine eye exam every year. Up to \$150 allowance for one pair of routine eyeglasses (prescription lenses and frames) or contact lenses every calendar year. This \$150 benefit includes new eyeglasses, contact lenses, lens replacement, frame replacement, fitting, adjustment, or repair. Members pay all charges over \$150 per calendar year. There are Plan exclusions, for example, store promotions or coupons and the one pair of Medicare-covered eyeglasses or contact lenses after cataract surgery.

Discounts/programs

Naturally Well

Discounts on acupuncture, chiropractic care and massage therapy from Plan providers. Health and wellness products also are available at a reduced rate through The ChooseHealthy®™Program.

Interactive online wellness tool Healthwise Knowledgebase

The Healthwise Knowledgebase is an online health encyclopedia, which features information on diseases, conditions, medications, and other health topics.

Non-Smoking Program Smoking Cessation

One-on-one telephone-based coaching offered by certified tobacco treatment counselors from our smoking cessation program, Quit to Win.

General exclusions and limitations

You are not covered for the following services. These are in addition to any exclusions listed or discussed in **Benefits**:

- 1. Services and supplies that are not covered by Medicare, unless shown as covered in this handbook
- 2. Drugs and biologicals eligible for coverage under Medicare Part D
- 3. Charges for amounts paid by Medicare, or (for some plan options; see your *Outline of Coverage*) applied to a Medicare deductible
- 4. Services or supplies that are not given by or at the direction of a licensed doctor or other appropriate licensed provider
- Services or supplies that are not medically necessary for the prevention, detection or care of an illness, injury or disease as decided by a FHLAC medical director, unless covered by Medicare or shown as covered in this handbook. Services or supplies that do not meet FHLAC's medical criteria are not considered to be medically necessary
- 6. Any experimental procedure or service that is not generally accepted medical practice, unless required by law (for example, bone marrow transplants for breast cancer as required by state law). This is decided by a FHLAC medical director
- 7. Any services supplied by any provider not having a license or approval, under applicable state law, to supply that type of service
- 8. Care that we decide is custodial. Custodial care is a level of care which: (a) is made to help a person with the activities of daily life; and (b) cannot be expected to greatly improve a medical condition
- 9. Services given to someone other than the member
- Services and supplies received for reasons of preference or convenience
- 11. Exams or care required by a third party unless medically necessary as decided by a doctor and FHLAC. Examples are pre-employment or school physicals, premarital medical tests, court-ordered care or immunizations required for your job or work conditions
- 12. An illness or injury that we determine came from, or during, your employment
- 13. Services or supplies given for disabilities received while you were in or as a result of military service, for which you are legally entitled to services and for which facilities are reasonably available, or care for conditions that state and local law require be treated at a public facility
- 14. Services that are given by a member of your family or household, unless that person is a licensed health care provider employed in a job that involves these services
- 15. Services to reverse a voluntary sterilization
- 16. Services related to the termination of pregnancy that are not medically necessary to prevent the death of the mother
- 17. Dental care, except as indicated in Oral surgery and dental services
- 18. Other therapies such as acupuncture (unless for Medicare-covered condition of chronic Low Back Pain), biofeedback and biofeedback devices for home use, neurofeedback, acquatic (unless given by a doctor or physical therapist with one-to-one patient contact), art, herbal and massage (unless given by a doctor or physical therapist with one-to-one patient contact)
- 19. Services given free of charge, that you would not pay for except for the fact that you have this contract, or that would be paid for by a governmental program (other than Medicaid or Medicare)

- 20. Refractive eye surgery
- 21. Hearing aids
- 22. Prescription drugs or medications, unless covered by Medicare Part A or Part B
- 23. Services related to care for infertility
- 24. Charges for amounts that go beyond the Medicare-approved deductible, copayment, or coinsurance amount
- 25. Bio-identical hormone replacement therapy

Index

Index

Acupuncture	31, 33, 34	Hospital inpatient services	24, 25, 30
Ambulance	24	Identification card	5, 6, 11
American Psychiatric Association	30	Infertility	35
Appeal	9, 12, 13, 14	Inpatient care	2, 29, 30
Appliances	29	Mammogram	29
Autism services	27	Medical records	
Bone marrow transplant	28, 34	Release of	13
Cardiac rehabilitation	25	Medical supplies	29
Claims process	17	Medicare 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 12, 17, 18,	20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26,
Counseling	27, 29, 31	27, 28, 29, 30, 34, 35	
Outpatient	3, 21	Mental health	7, 25, 27, 29, 30, 31
Court-ordered treatment	34	Nutrition	31, 32
Custodial care	2, 31, 34	Supplements	31
Customer Service	4, 5, 6, 11, 12, 17, 18	Occupational therapy	25, 29
Department of Public Health	2, 3, 28, 30	Office visits and outpatient services	3, 25
Dialysis, outpatient	25	Organ transplants	25
Durable medical equipment	25	Outpatient services 2, 21, 25, 28,	29, 30, 31, See Office
Emergency care	24, 30	visits and outpatient services	
Emergency services	2	Personal injury protection	18, 19
Employment-related illness or injury	34	Prescription drugs	35
Enteral formulas	32	Prescription medications	29, 31
Food products, low protein	32	Termination of coverage	14, 22
General exclusions and limitations	34	Transportation	24, See Ambulance
Home health care	24, 28		
Home health care services	24	Urgent care	24
Hospice	24, 28	Work-required immunizations	34
Hospice care	28–29		



10 Chestnut St. Worcester, MA 01608-2810

fallonhealth.org

Effective date: 01/01/2024 23-670-070 Rev. 00 7/23